1979

Time Commercial Financing Corp. v. Carol Brimhall et al : Brief of Defendants-Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This action is a post judgment contract dispute in which Walker Bank and others seek to recover the money (royalties) awarded by the Trial Court as compensation for the exclusive patent License awarded to TIMECO, and in which Walker Bank seeks enforcement of a Trial Court judgment and the decision of this Supreme Court in a prior appeal in this action.

DISPOSITION OF THE TRIAL COURT

On October 24, 1978, the Trial Court entered an Order granting a Motion for Summary Judgment by which the question of whether or not Walker Bank was to receive its money (royalties) was dismissed as a federal question without holding the evidentiary hearing earlier mandated by this Court. Simultaneously, the Trial Court refused to enforce its own Decree of July 30, 1975 through which it imposed a contract on the parties requiring payment of money (royalties) by the plaintiff TIMECO to Walker Bank and Carol Brimhall Davis, the defendants and appellants herein.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The defendants-appellants seek reversal of the Trial Court's decision dismissing the question of whether or not royalties are due and a mandate directing the Trial Court to act to enforce its own Decree of July 30, 1975, to promptly conduct the evidentiary hearing heretofore mandated by this

Court on the issue of whether or not TIMECO is obligated to Walker Bank and Carol Brimhall Davis for past unpaid royalties and on the issue of contempt, but not including the issue of patent validity.

PARTIES TO THE APPEAL

The appellants herein are defendants below, Walker Bank & Trust Company, Administrator with the Will annexed of the Estate of Ray S. Brimhall, deceased (hereinafter referred to as "Walker Bank") and Carol Brimhall Davis (hereinafter referred to as "Davis").

The respondent and cross-appellant is TIME COMMERCIAL FINANCING, CORP. which is hereinafter referred to as "TIMECO".

The cross-respondents are Walker Bank, Davis and Brimhall Products, Inc.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case has a lengthy history dating back before 1971. The factual background is thus broken down into appropriate time frames and other subjects.

Pre-Litigation (1965 to 1971)

In 1965 and 1967, Ray S. Brimhall invented first a hydraulic valve and system and then a mechanical latch for use on trucks described in more detail hereafter (R-601). The products were made and sold eventually by Brimco Hydraulics and Engineering, Inc., a corporation (BRIMCO) owned by Ray

Brimhall and his partner (R-599). Ray Brimhall died in November of 1969 (R-602).

After Ray Brimhall's death, BRIMCO obtained financing from TIMECO (R-613) and eventually defaulted on its obligations to pay back the loan (R-615). TIMECO thereafter foreclosed on security positions and purchased the "collateral" at a public sale in March, 1971 (R-618).

The Initial Dispute (1971)

At the time of the sale in March, 1971, Walker Bank, as administrator, (R-601) claimed ownership of Ray Brimhall's inventions which then were in the form of an issued U.S. Patent and a pending U.S. Patent Application (R-619). TIMECO took issue with Walker Bank and commenced this action claiming total ownership of the patent and patent applicaion (R-3). Later, TIMECO added a claim against Walker Bank, Ray Brimhall's widow (now Carol Brimhall Davis), Brimhall Products, Inc. and others for damages on the theory that the ownership rights of TIMECO had been derogated or subverted. That claim was principally based on the granting of a patent license by Walker Bank to Brimhall Products, Inc., which was a company set up by Carol Brimhall (Ray Brimhall's widow) and others to make and sell products under the patents (R-99).

The Trial And Its Outcome (1972-1975)

The issue of ownership of the patent and patent application was tried to the Court without a jury in January,

1972, with remaining issues reserved by severance for later disposition. After the trial and exhaustive post trial litigation, the Trial Court eventually entered Amended Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and a Decree (R-599-626) on July 30, 1975.

As per the Amended Decree, the Trial Court found that TIMECO did not own the patent and patent application for Ray Brimhall's inventions (R-602): It found rather that ownership was in Walker Bank (as administrator of Ray Brimhall's Estate) subject to implied contract rights in the form of an implied exclusive license which TIMECO had acquired at the foreclosure sale (R-602-619). The Trial Court found that the license carried the obligation to pay royalties, and that TIMECO was so obligated (R-609-R-619). The Findings and Conclusions were properly implemented in the Decree (R-624).

Post Judgment (1976-1978)

In December, 1976, Walker Bank and Carol Brimhall, now Carol Brimhall Davis, instituted post judgment proceedings to obtain judgment for royalties due under the Decree which TIMECO refuses to pay. The proceedings were commenced by an Order to Show Cause (R-710). It is the disposition of that Order to Show Cause dated December 8, 1976, which provides the legal and factual premise of this appeal.

1. Initial Resolution of Order To Show Cause (1976)

On December 22, 1976, the Trial Court had a hearing

to resolve the Order to Show Cause (R-726] and TIMECO's counter motion to vacate it (R-714]. By minute entry or Memorandum Decision dated January 24, 1977, the Trial Court found that Walker Bank and Davis were entitled to the unpaid royalties and ordered that further proceedings be had to set the amount due (R-754]. This order was much later formalized nunc pro tunc (R-868].

2. The First Appeal (1977)

TIMECO took exception to the Trial Court's Ruling of January 24, 1977 and eventually appealed to this Court claiming it was denied due process of law because it was precluded from presenting the Trial Court with additional evidence (R-810].

This Court ruled that the record below did not have sufficient evidence to support the ruling of January 24, 1977. This Court then remanded for further proceedings (Appeal No. 15136, Opinion filed February 10, 1978).

3. Simultaneous With Appeal (1977)

Through the summer of 1977, simultaneous with the appeal process, TIMECO initiated and pursued proceedings in the Trial Court to obtain resolution of then still unresolved causes which had been severed and reserved since 1972 (R-879]. Walker Bank and Davis responded with a Motion for Summary Judgment on the severed causes (R-932]. Nothing was resolved because a stay of all Trial Court proceedings was obtained by TIMECO on October 4, 1977 (R-1114].

Post Appeal (1978)

After remittitur in April 1978 (R-1125), TIMECO filed its second Motion for Summary Judgment of Patent Invalidity on April 28, 1978(R-1130). Its first Motion had been presented and denied (R-564-581) before entry of the final Amended Decree of July 30, 1975. TIMECO's second motion and Walker Bank's unresolved 1977 Motion for Summary Judgment on the untried causes were heard by the Trial Court on June 26, 1978.

The Trial Court granted Walker Bank's Motion for Summary Judgment by dismissing TIMECO's earlier severed and still untried causes on the grounds set forth by Walker Bank that the causes sound in patent infringement and are thus a federal question (R-1271). Further, TIMECO's Motion for Summary Judgment of Patent Invalidity was denied.

Thereafter, TIMECO filed a Motion for Summary Judgment to dismiss Walker Bank's claim for unpaid royalties which was raised by the December 8, 1976 Order to Show Cause (R-1282). In the alternative, TIMECO sought an order to force Walker Bank into newly authorized Patent Office proceedings to review the issue of validity (R-1285).

The Trial Court refused to order Patent Office proceedings but did grant TIMECO's Motion for Summary Judgment to dismiss, and in fact dismissed the question of whether royalties under the July 30, 1975 Decree are to be paid on the grounds that it is a federal question (R-1347).

Walker Bank thereafter took this appeal from that order and separately sought Mandamus as well. The Mandamus

proceedings were dismissed in favor of this Appeal. In the interim, TIMECO filed a cross appeal claiming error in other parts of the Trial Court's ruling if the Trial Court is reversed.

The Products

The products involved in the dispute are for use on the large semi-truck tractors of the type which have the cab mounted over the engine so that the cab must be tipped forward to provide access to the engine for maintenance. The hydraulic system and valve are used to port oil to a hydraulic tilting piston or cylinder from a manually operated hand pump. The valve also ports hydraulic fluid to a cab latch.

The cab latch operates to latch the cab of the semi-truck tractor down in normal use. It is constructed to have a spring to improve the "ride" experienced by the driver. The hydraulic system overcomes the spring and unlatches it so that the cab can be tilted.

Frequent reference is had to a "Silver Latch" and a "Black Latch". These terms relate to the actual color of constructed cab latches. The "Silver Latch" (Exhibit D-2) is one for which TIMECO admits royalties are due, and has in fact been paying royalties thereon. The "Black Latch" (Exhibit D-1) is claimed by TIMECO to be an improvement latch and sufficiently different to not be under license. TIMECO is not paying royalties on the "Black Latch".

Frequent reference is also had to the "Brimhall Latch"

and to a "Nordell-Kimball Latch". The Brimhall Latch is the same as the Silver Latch; and the Black Latch is the same as the Nordell-Kimball Latch.

The Patents

There are three patents which have been frequently referred to during the course of these proceedings:

(a) U.S. Patent No. 3,430,653, issued March 4, 1969, was invented by Ray S. Brimhall and is directed to the hydraulic valve and system used for tipping the cabs.

(b) U.S. Patent No. 3,797,882, issued March 19, 1974, to Walker Bank (as Administrator) was invented by Ray S. Brimhall and is directed to the latch used to hold the cab of the semi-truck tractor in place. This patent was pending before the Patent Office at the outset of this matter, but has obviously now issued as a patent.

(c) U.S. Patent No. 3,752,519, issued August 14, 1973, to R. Nordell and H. C. Kimball. The patent is not admitted into evidence. It is sometimes referred to by TIMECO as the Nordell-Kimball patent.

Summary of the Factual Dispute

Into 1975, TIMECO resisted paying any royalties. TIMECO had even obtained a Temporary Restraining Order from Judge Ritter to avoid payment. However, eventually TIMECO

was compelled to and did pay royalties on the Silver Latch. About that time, it started to make a slightly different latch known as the Black Latch. TIMECO has continued to pay royalties on the Silver Latch and has refused and continues to refuse to pay royalties on the Black Latch. Walker Bank, as Administrator, and Carol Brimhall Davis, the widow and heir, started post judgment proceedings to collect royalties on the Black Latch. The amount of accrued royalties due with interest is estimated to now substantially exceed \$50,000.00.

TIMECO has refused to pay basically because it claims the Brimhall Latch patent is invalid and because it claims that the Black Latch does not infringe the claims of the Brimhall Latch patent.

Walker Bank and Davis, however, assert that validity can no longer be raised in this case and that even if it could the patent is valid. Walker Bank and Davis further assert that the Black Latch is a royalty-bearing latch which does infringe the Brimhall Latch patent. The question of infringement centers on the way the latch hook moves as it travels between latched and unlatched positions.

Summary of The Legal Dispute

The legal dispute which is the predicate of this appeal relates to two separate aspects of this case.

The first deals with the claim of Walker Bank and TIMECO for past unpaid royalties. TIMECO urged the Trial Court

to dismiss the claim as a federal question in the face of clear authority that the State Court can entertain issues of infringement in resolving State Court claims of the type here involved. The Trial Court adopted TIMECO's view and dismissed the question. Walker Bank and Davis appeal now to reverse that decision.

The second aspect relates to TIMECO's earlier severed and untried causes. The gist of those causes is that the defendants derogated patent rights owned by TIMECO. The Trial Court dismissed the causes, inter alia, because they sound like and are a patent infringement cause exclusively under Federal jurisdiction.

ARGUMENT

The Trial Court erred in dismissing the question of whether royalties are due on the Black Latch as a federal question. The Trial Court erred because the question on its face is clearly a State Court issue properly in a State Court under compelling authority. The Trial Court erred because it has a duty to enforce its own judgment, which is the predicate for the question and the basis upon which it is founded. The Trial Court erred because it refused or failed to follow the mandate of this Court in an earlier first appeal in this action.

THE TRIAL COURT HAS A DUTY TO ENFORCE
ITS OWN JUDGMENT AND SHOULD BE COMPELLED TO SO ACT

It has long been the law of the State of Utah that

the enforcement of a judgment is a duty of the District Court. Ketchem Coal Co. v. Christensen et al, 48 Utah 214, 159 Pac. 541 (1916).

In Ketchem Coal, supra, the plaintiff coal company, by condemnation proceeding, obtained an order or judgment giving it possession and occupancy of a strip of ground for purposes of building a tramway to transport coal to a nearby rail line. The defendants thereafter interfered with the construction of the tramway. The plaintiff thus asked the District Court for, and the District Court did issue, an order to show cause why the defendants therein should not be made to comply with the judgment and why the defendants should not be held in contempt. The defendants demurred to the order; and the Trial Court sustained the demurrer. 159 Pac. at 542.

In mandamus proceedings filed in this Court, the plaintiff coal company sought a writ compelling the District Court to enforce its judgment. In ordering that the writ issue, this Court stated:

"When...it is admitted by the demurrer that a judgment was duly and regularly entered; that the same is in full force and effect; that the respondents had interfered and are persisting in interfering with the plaintiff in its right to enjoy the fruits of the judgment, then the court may not say that it will not enforce the judgment. Under the circumstances, the law gives plaintiff the right to have the judgment enforced and imposes the duty upon the court to enforce it, and no discretion is vested in the court whether it will enforce it or not." 159 Pac. at 544 (emphasis added).

The Judgment In This Case

*The judgment or order here at issue is the Amended
Sponsored by the S.J. Quinley Foundation, in partnership with the Utah State Office of Archives, Museum and Library Services
Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.*

Decree of July 30, 1975, by the Honorable James S. Sawaya in the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County. A copy of that judgment is affixed to this Brief as Exhibit I. The pertinent part of that judgment is paragraph 3 which provides that:

"3. ...(TIMECO) is the owner of an implied exclusive license under...(the Brimhall Patents)... In return for said license, ...(TIMECO)...is obligated to pay Walker Bank...royalties in the amount of two percent (2%) of total sales of Valve Systems and Cab Latches and parts thereof. ...".

Request To Enforce Judgment

By ex parte motion dated December 6, 1976, supported by affidavits, Davis and Walker Bank asked the Court to and the Court did issue its Order To Show Cause, dated December 9, 1976, directing TIMECO to appear and show cause why judgment should not be entered in favor of Walker Bank against TIMECO for past unpaid royalties.

The petitioners herein have thus requested enforcement of the judgment in the same manner and on the same basis as the plaintiff in Ketchum Coal, supra. Indeed, Walker Bank and Davis have repeatedly and strenuously requested enforcement since December 1976.

Refusal To Enforce Judgment

On October 24, 1978, upon motion by TIMECO, the Trial Court, by Judge Sawaya, dismissed the question of whether royalties are due on the "Black Latch" on the grounds that

the question is to be resolved in the Federal courts. The Trial Court has thus refused to enforce its own judgment. The Trial Court has refused erroneously to act in accordance with its clear duty. The Trial Court has no discretion. The Trial Court must act on the merits of the request to enforce the Judgment of July 30, 1975.

It Is Proper To Compel The
Trial Court To Act

This Court in Ketchum Coal Co. v. Christensen, supra, found that it was proper to compel a district court judge to proceed...to act...to enforce his own judgment. The situation here presented is virtually on all fours with Ketchum Coal. This Court may and should compel the District Court to act to determine if the facts support enforcement and to thereafter enforce or not enforce the Judgment.

A Federal Question
Is Not Involved

The basis for the Trial Court's decision is that the question of whether or not royalties are due is a federal question. It appears that the Trial Court concluded that it may or should examine whether or not the accused royalty-bearing Black Latch fits within the claims of the Brimhall Latch Patent. It further appears that the Trial Court concluded such an inquiry is federal.

The conclusion is erroneous. It cannot ipso facto be a federal question to determine the scope of a state court

judgment and liability for damages and contempt thereunder. Further, it is clear under well established authority that the inquiry which the Trial Court thought to be exclusively federal is not exclusively federal and is a proper subject for the Trial Court. Infra., at page 16.

THE TRIAL COURT HAS A DUTY
TO FOLLOW THE PRIOR APPEAL DECISION
OF THIS COURT AND MAY BE COMPELLED TO SO ACT

It is the law of the State of Utah that a Trial Court must follow the decision of this Supreme Court upon remand or remittitur after appeal. Street v. Fourth Judicial District Court, ___ Utah ___, 191 P.2d 153 (1948); Utah Copper Co. v. District Court of Third Judicial District, 91 Utah 377, 64 P.2d 241 (1937). As stated by this Court in Utah Copper Co., supra:

"The rule is well established and there does not seem to be anything to the contrary that when a case has been determined by a reviewing court and remanded to the trial court, the duty of the latter is to comply with the mandate of the former." 64 P.2d at 250 (emphasis added).

This language was cited with approval in Street v. Fourth Judicial District Court, supra, 191 P.2d at 157.

The Prior Decision
Of This Court

TIMECO took appeal in April 1977. The Decision and Opinion of this Court was filed in Appeal No. 15136 on February 10, 1978. In that Decision and Opinion, this Court noted the nature of the proceedings and held that:

"The record before us is totally devoid of evidence and does not and cannot support the findings below.

"The judgment of January 24, 1977 is reversed and remanded for further proceedings in accord with this opinion." Decision and Opinion filed February 10, 1978, at page 3.

The Decision and Opinion is unambiguous and clear. It directs further proceedings in accordance with the decision. Those proceedings are clearly to be evidentiary proceedings to resolve the issue of liability for royalties on the "Black Latch". No other issue was extant in that appeal. TIMECO, in its Appeal Brief (undated), stated quite clearly that the relief sought in that appeal was:

"...reversal of an order to pay royalties... and...remand to the lower court to consider additional evidence." Appellant's Appeal Brief, Appeal No. 15136, at page 2.

This Court granted that relief and remanded with a specific direction to proceed.

The Law of This Case Is Settled

The appeal taken by TIMECO and the decision rendered by this Court has established the law of this case. As stated by this Court in Utah Copper Co. v. District Court of the Third Judicial District, *supra*:

"Whatever comes before and is decided and disposed of by the reviewing court is considered as finally settled and the inferior court is bound by the decree as the law of the case and must carry it into execution according to the mandate..." 64 P.2d at 250.

"The mandate is binding on the lower court and must be strictly followed and carried into effect according to its true intent and meaning." 64 P.2d at 250.

Under the law of the case doctrine in this matter, the only action left to be taken was the setting of an evidentiary hearing, the taking of TIMECO's additional evidence and the rendering of a decision. The law of this case could permit no other action. All issues pertaining to the post-judgment enforcement proceedings were available to be raised by TIMECO on December 22, 1976, and were available to be raised on the appeal then taken. They were not. The sole issue argued on appeal was TIMECO's right to put on additional evidence. That right was granted and is the settled law of this case.

The Trial Court Has Refused
To Follow The Decision And
Opinion Of This Court

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