1979

# Time Commercial Financing Corp. v. Carol Brimhall et al : Brief of Plaintiff-Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### ARGUMENT

The trial court has already enforced its judgment and was within its rights in dismissing the question of whether royalties are payable on the Nordell-Kimball latch. That question involves consideration of whether the patent would be infringed, but for the license, and of patent validity. When confronted with ancillary questions of Federal patent law in a proper case, a State court can exercise discretion as to whether it will or will not accept jurisdiction, and may leave those questions to the Federal courts. The lower court here was correct in treating all three of the issues before it consistently.

#### THE COURT HAS ENFORCED ITS JUDGMENT

The decree of the lower court was rendered on TIMECO's request for a declaratory judgment as to its rights in the two Brimhall inventions. It was the court's considered judgment that TIMECO has an implied exclusive license under the two patents granted on these inventions, for the lives of the patents, provided that it pays royalties of 2% on items made and sold pursuant to such licensed patents. The court determined the monetary amount of royalties due DAVIS et al. under the license, and TIMECO has paid such amount and continues to pay the decreed royalties as they become due.

The question raised by the appeal filed on behalf of DAVIS et al. goes beyond anything heretofore decided in the case. In addition to making and selling the licensed Brimhall "Cab Latch," TIMECO is making an improved latch invented by two of its employees (Nordell and Kimball) in response to what was determined to be a possible safety problem with the Brimhall latch. TIMECO has continually alleged that the improved (Nordell-Kimball) cab latch does not come within the scope of the license agreement and has not paid royalties on such latch. Whether or not royalties

are payable on the Nordell-Kimball cab latch is dependent upon whether it constitutes an infringement of the patents if royalties are not paid. Thus, the question before this Court is not merely one of enforcing an order. This Court has already determined that an enforceable order can only be predicated upon evidence. The lower court has refused to take and pass on evidence, holding instead that this can best be done by a Federal court.

That the Decree establishes a royalty only for products made according to the two Brimhall patents is clear. Thus, the Decree reads:

"3. That the plaintiff Time Commercial Financing Corporation is the owner of an implied exclusive license under said United States Letters Patent No. 3,430,653 (the "Valve System" invention) and under United States Patent Application No. 732,484 (the "Cab Latch" invention) and any letters patent granted thereon, said license being the exclusive right to make, use, and sell said invention and . . . [I]n return for said license, Plaintiff Time Commercial Financing Corporation is obligated to pay monthly . . . royalties in the amount of two percent (2%) of total sales of Valve Systems and Cab Latches and parts thereof." (Decree, para. 3. R-625 to 626)

Royalties are to be paid on Valve Systems and Cab Latches, and such Valve Systems and Cab Latches are those covered by Brimhall Letters Patent No. 3,430,653 (the "Valve System" invention) and Brimhall Patent Application No. 732,484 (the "Cab Latch" invention) and by any letters patent granted on the latter (Brimhall Letters Patent No. 3,797,882).

In a hearing held October 11, 1978, Judge Sawaya agreed with the above interpretation of the Decree:

THE COURT: I'm a little confused, Mr. Mallinckrodt. I understand the issue. Certainly, my opinion or feeling is that the defendants are entitled to the royalties on the cab latch and valve system that is indicated in the Findings of Fact and the Decree in this matter.

MR. MALLINCKRODT: And that is the valve -- or the cab latch that was -- that is covered by the

~~Brimhall Patent~~

THE COURT: Yes. Yes. No question about that. Now, we have been toying with the issue of whether or not they are entitled to royalties on the basis of the Nordell-Kimball so-called black latch-- (R-1865)

Thus, the lower court itself considers the matter of whether royalties are payable on the Nordell-Kimball latch as being a separate question for determination, a question not covered by any previous order.

#### PATENT VALIDITY AND INFRINGEMENT MUST BE ADDRESSED

The implied exclusive license to TIMECO grants exclusive rights under the two aforementioned Brimhall patents. In order to come within the scope of the license and thus within the scope of the obligation to pay royalties, the Nordell-Kimball cab latch has to come within the scope of the claims of one or the other of these Brimhall patents.

Although the fact that the Nordell-Kimball latch is manufactured in accordance with TIMECO's own Letters Patent No. 3,752,519 is not determinative of whether or not such latch comes within the scope of valid claims of, i.e. infringes, a Brimhall patent, it does establish the fact that the Patent Office of the United States was of the opinion that there are significant differences between the Brimhall cab latch and the Nordell-Kimball cab latch.

Sec. 102 of the Patent Laws of the United States (35 U.S.C) provides:

"A person shall be entitled to a patent unless--

(a) the invention was known or used by others in this country, or patented or described in a printed publication in this or a foreign country, before the invention thereof by the applicant for patent . . . ."

TIMECO's patent itself mentions the prior Brimhall cab latch and makes reference to the then pending Brimhall application. Thus, the Patent Office had knowledge of the detailed construction of both the licensed Brimhall "Cab Latch" and the Nordell-Kimball cab latch when it issued TIMECO's patent. In issuing such patent, the Patent Office found in effect that the Nordell-Kimball cab latch was not

specifically known, used, nor patented by others prior to its invention by Messrs. Nordell and Kimball. This amounts to a finding of significant differences between the two products.

In the case of Washington Scientific Industries, Inc., v. Shiley Laboratories, Inc., 187 USPQ 236, 243 (1975), the District Court, C.D. California, citing the United States Supreme Court, said:

"The accused device is the subject of a United States patent allowed by the Patent Office after specific consideration of the Kaster patent in suit and, while this is not conclusive that the accused Bjork-Shiley valve does not infringe the Kaster patent, 'the presumption from the grant of letters patent is that there is a substantial difference between the inventions' Kokomo Fence Machine Company v. Kitselman, 189 U.S. 8, 23, 23 S.Ct. 521, 527 (1903)." (complete copy of decision in the Appendix)

In considering the royalty requirement in a patent license, the 4th Circuit U.S. Court of Appeals in the case of Richen-Gemco, Inc. v. Heltra, Inc., 540 F.2d 1235, 1240; 191 USPQ 663, 666 (1976), said:

"The patent claim language thus limits and defines the precise mechanical structure on which royalties may be exacted under the contract. The manner of operation of the machine purchased from Heltra, or of copies thereof made by Richen, is irrelevant to the issue in the case. That Richen's machine product may or may not utilize the 'basic concept' of conveying yarn through a heated conduit by a flow of air is also irrelevant. Under the contract, royalties are not to be exacted on the sale of machines using Tradewell's 'basic concept' but, rather, on sale of machines 'covered by said patent application'."

Earlier in the decision, at page 1239, the court said:

"It is elementary that the definition of subject matter 'covered' by a patent must be found in the claims."

Therefore, in order for royalties to be legally payable on the Nordell-Kimball cab latch, that cab latch must come within the scope of and infringe one or more claims of a Brimhall patent.

In the case of Washington Scientific Industries, Inc., et al. v. Shiley Laboratories, Inc., supra, the Court said at page 241:

"The burden of proving infringement is upon plaintiff [the one asserting infringement], . . . . A determination respecting infringement requires a comparison of the claims of the patent with the accused device on an element-by-element basis, *Werner v. King*, 96 U.S. 218 (1877); *Hardison v. Brinkman*, 156 F. 962 (9th Cir. 1907); *Stukenborg v. Teledyne, Inc.* 299 F. Supp. 1152, 161 USPQ 10 (C.D. Calif. 1969) and 'It is settled that' to sustain the charge of infringement the infringing device must be substantially identical with the one alleged to be infringed in (1) the result attained; (2) the means of attaining that result; and (3) the manner in which its different parts operate and cooperate to produce that result'." *Dolgoft v. Kaynar Company*, 18 F.R.D. 424, 108 USPQ 66 (S.D. Calif. 1955) quoting from *Montgomery Ward & Co. v. Clair*, 123 F. 2d 878, 881, 51 USPQ 449, 502-503 (8th Cir.1941). Infringement is not a mere matter of words and there is no infringement if the mode of operation of the accused device is different or there is no equivalency of means. *Grant v. Koppl*, 99 F. 2d 106, 39 USPQ 36 (9th Cir. 1938). Evidence of general similarities in broad concept, e.g., a tilting disc, a disc free to rotate, etc., is not sufficient to establish infringement."

Further, in order that infringement exist, the claims of the patent alleged to be infringed must be valid.

After finding a patent invalid, the Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit in Ohio Citizens Trust Co. v. Lear Jet Corp. 403 F.2d 956, 959; 160 USPQ 11, 14 (1968), said:

"The question of infringement need not be considered because an invalid patent cannot be infringed."

Since an invalid patent cannot be infringed, the court must make an affirmative finding of patent validity before it can make an effective finding of infringement.

#### THE ISSUE OF PATENT VALIDITY IS NOT RES JUDICATA

TIMECO has good reason to believe that Brimhall Patent No. 3,797,882, issued March 19, 1974 on the "Cab Latch" is invalid, because among other things such

Cab Latch was "on sale" more than one year prior to the filing date (April 29, 1968) of the application for patent.

Evidence of invalidity was presented to the lower court by TIMECO's Motion for Summary Judgment of Patent Invalidity (R. 544-562, 564-567) soon after TIMECO satisfied itself as to the facts. The lower court declined to entertain or rule substantively on the motion when presented and denied such motion as not timely filed (R. 581). Such motion was made in reference to royalties found due on the Brimhall latch. The question of royalties on the Nordell-Kimball latch had not yet come up.

It is submitted that the decision as to the initial Motion for Summary Judgment has no bearing nor effect on a similar motion presented pursuant to the different question of whether royalties are payable on the Nordell-Kimball latch. That is a new question and one for which the correlative question of infringement is also involved.

The fact that TIMECO is a licensee under the Brimhall patent does not bar it from attacking validity at any time.

The Supreme Court of the United States, in Lear, Inc. v. Adkins, 395 U.S. 653; 162 USPQ 1 (1969), held that a licensee under a patent is always free to attack the validity of the licensed patent. This is true even in instances in which the license agreement contains a provision expressly prohibiting such an attack.

DAVIS et al. argue that the Lear doctrine does not apply in the case at bar. They assert that, because TIMECO made a motion for summary judgment of patent invalidity in 1974, which was denied, somehow the question is res judicata and cannot now be raised. As already noted, the 1974 Motion (R.549-562, 564-567) was directed to the question of royalties due on the Brimhall latch. The motion was dismissed as untimely in those circumstances. The question of the Nordell-Kimball latch and its infringement had not yet arisen. Thus, there was no determination on the merits of

the motion. There is nothing in the Decree finding such Brimhall patent valid or infringed. There has been no ruling at all concerning validity or infringement of the Brimhall patents.

In USM Corp. v. Standard Pressed Steel Co., 453 F.Supp. 743, 200 USPQ 788 (D.C.N.D.Ill., 1978), the case cited by DAVIS et al. as supporting their res judicata argument, the court said on page 792:

"It is clear in this circuit and elsewhere that a consent decree containing an adjudication of the validity of a patent, but lacking an express or implied adjudication of infringement, will not be accorded res judicata effect in a later action between the parties. Kraly v. National Distillers & Chemical Corp., 502 F.2d 1366, 183 USPQ 79 (7th Cir. 1974); Business Forms Finishing Services, Inc. v. Carson, 452 F.2d 70, 171 USPQ 519 (7th Cir. 1971); and see e.g. Addressograph Multi-graph Corp. v. Cooper, 156 F.2d 483, 70 USPQ 272 (2nd Cir. 1946). However, 'the question \* \* \* whether a consent judgment adjudicating infringement as well as validity bars a party to the judgment from subsequently challenging the validity of the patent has not been decided by \* \* \* [the Seventh Circuit].' USM Corp. v. Standard Pressed Steel Co., 524 F.2d 1097, 188 USPQ 52 (7th Cir. 1975)."

In the USM case, page 790, there had been a prior consent decree entered in which:

"Provisions of the agreement reciting the validity of the Villo patent, the scope of its claims, and the fact of USM's infringement were incorporated . . ."

There, the consent decree brought that case into the questionable area. The court found that under these circumstances res judicata should be afforded the consent decree on the ground that both validity and infringement had been found.

In the present case, there is a judgment by the court rather than by consent. However, there are no findings of infringement nor validity. Therefore, the present case clearly falls into the category indicated by the court in the USM case as not having any res judicata effect.



## A STATE COURT HAS DISCRETION NOT TO HEAR FEDERAL ISSUES

TIMECO has long urged that a State court has jurisdiction to hear and decide Federal patent law questions of infringement and validity when such questions arise ancillary to a proper State court proceeding. TIMECO does not argue otherwise now. It acknowledges that the lower court has jurisdiction of the issues if it wishes to decide such issues. However, TIMECO submits that a State court may exercise discretion in the matter and refuse to invoke jurisdiction if it so desires.

In Kish v. Wright, 562 P.2d 625 (Utah Supreme Court, 1977), this Court dealt with a problem involving the exercise of discretion by a State court in dismissing a case in which the Federal court had concurrent jurisdiction. That case involved a civil rights action brought in the State district court under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. This Court concluded that the State court did, indeed, have jurisdiction in the action but that such jurisdiction was concurrent with jurisdiction of the Federal court. The action could have been brought in either court. This Court then examined the question of whether, although the State court did have jurisdiction, it had discretion to refuse to invoke jurisdiction, thus leaving the plaintiff to go to the Federal court to seek his remedy. This Court examined the doctrine of forum non-conveniens and decided the doctrine had application in instances of actions which could have been brought in either State or Federal court, and that in such an instance a State court could refuse jurisdiction and could dismiss the case without prejudice, whereupon the complaining party could then file the action in Federal court.

This Court stated, at page 628, the rule recognized in Utah as being:

"[T]he trial court has an inherent right to dismiss a cause of action over which it has jurisdiction for the reason that there is a more convenient forum and that federal statutes do not make it mandatory that Utah courts exercise jurisdiction."

and just above that said:

"It is a general rule that the trial court's discretion to invoke the doctrine of forum



non-conveniens will not be interfered with by an appellate court, absent an abuse of discretion."

In the present case, the issues involved in this appeal can be heard by a Federal court, and the trial court has determined that the Federal court is the proper and most convenient forum.

Although the order from which this appeal and cross-appeal are taken indicate that the trial court believed exclusive jurisdiction was in the Federal courts, the entire post judgment proceedings in this case indicate that the trial court believes a Federal court is the best forum for deciding Federal patent law issues. The trial court has clearly indicated that it does not want to address and determine such issues.

There Are No Federal Statutes Requiring  
the State Court to Exercise Jurisdiction

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